Board of Governors of the Pennsylvania's State System of Higher Education

Meeting Minutes

268th Meeting Wednesday, May 15, 2019 Boardroom, First Floor Administration Building 2986 North Second Street Harrisburg, PA 17110-1201

4:00 p.m.

via Zoom/Phone

ATTENDING

Board of Governors:

Representative Timothy P. Briggs Audrey F. Bronson Thomas J. Gombar (Senator Schwank's designee) Donald E. Houser, Jr. David M. Maser (Vice Chair) Marion D. Moskowitz Thomas S. Muller Noe Ortega (designee for Secretary Rivera) (at Edinboro University) Representative Brad Roae Cynthia D. Shapira (Chair) Samuel H. Smith Secretary Meg C. Snead (Governor Wolf's designee) Neil R. Weaver Janet L. Yeomans

Secretary of Education Pedro A. Rivera, and Senator Judith L. Schwank were absent.

Office of the Chancellor:

Dan Greenstein, Chancellor Peter H. Garland Andrew C. Lehman

In attendance from the Office of the Chancellor: Audrey J. Guistwhite, Cody Jones, Brian A. Mbuu, Sharon P. Minnich, and David G. Pidgeon.

In attendance at Edinboro University

- Samuel Comfort, Executive Assistant to the President
- Randy Goin Jr., Deputy Chancellor
- Guiyou Huang, President Elect
- Jennifer Yufeng Qian (Dr. Huang's wife)
- George Huang (Dr. Huang's son)
- Claire Huang (Dr. Huang's daughter)

Chairwoman Shapira called the meeting to order at 4:05 p.m.

Attendance taken at the direction of Chairwoman Shapira established that a quorum of the Board was present.

PUBLIC COMMENTS

No public comments.

Chairwoman Shapira noted that the Board had two action items to recommend to the Board for approval.

Chairwoman Shapira moved THAT THE BOARD APPROVE THE APPOINTMENT OF DR. GUIYOU HUANG AS PRESIDENT OF EDINBORO UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2019, AND AUTHORIZE THE CHAIRWOMAN AND THE CHANCELLOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS.

Voice Vote. The motion passed unanimously.

Chairwoman Shapira moved THAT THE BOARD RATIFIES THE SIDE LETTER REGARDING VOLUNTARY PHASED RETIREMENT AND AUTHORIZE THE CHANCELLOR TO EXECUTE THE APPROPRIATE DOCUMENTS. (Attachment #1)

The motion passed unanimously. Voice Vote.

Executive Session convened at 4:19 p.m.

Executive Session adjourned at 4:49 p.m.

No action was taken during the Executive Session.

The Board meeting reconvened at 4:50 p.m.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further items of business to come before the Board, Chairwoman Shapira adjourned the meeting at 4:51 p.m.

ATTEST:

Randy Goin Jr. Deputy Chancellor

TENTATIVE AGREEMENT

Side Letter between APSCUF and PASSHE

Voluntary Phased Retirement Pilot Program

The Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education ("State System") and the Association of State College and University Professionals ("APSCUF") agree to implement a Voluntary Phased Retirement Program ("the Program"), on a pilot basis, to address the needs of faculty members in an APSCUF-represented bargaining unit who wish to transition into full retirement while continuing to provide service to the State System. The Program allows participants to reduce their work commitment over a defined period at a reduced compensation level pursuant to an approved Phased Retirement Arrangement ("Arrangement").

A. Program Commencement, Evaluation, Adjustment and/or Discontinuation

- 1. Eligible faculty members may participate in the Program pursuant to the terms of an approved Arrangement beginning in the Fall Semester 2019, or beginning with any Fall semester thereafter unless and until the Program is adjusted or discontinued in accordance with the terms of this Side Letter.
- 2. By no later than August 1, 2022, the State System and APSCUF will evaluate and assess the Program for continuation or adjustment. Any adjustment to the Program will be memorialized in an amended Side Letter, subject to any required ratification or other approval process.
- 3. The State System or APSCUF may discontinue the Program with 60 days' advance written notice to the other party. Upon such notice, the parties will negotiate the terms of the discontinuation of the Program. If no agreement on the terms of discontinuance is reached within the 60 days, then no new Arrangements may be submitted for approval after expiration of the 60-day period. Any Arrangement submitted prior to the expiration of the 60-day period will conclude at the end of the approved Arrangement period.
- 4. Any faculty member with an approved Arrangement as of the date of adjustment or discontinuation of the Program may continue to participate under the terms of their approved Arrangement. Any adjustment or discontinuation shall have only prospective impact.
- 5. Immediately upon ratification of this Side Letter, the State System shall amend its Alternative Retirement Plan (ARP) plan document to allow participants in the Program to withdraw a portion of their ARP account prior to retirement. The amendment shall require that a minimum amount of \$25,000 must remain in the ARP account while the faculty member is participating in the Program.

 Immediately upon ratification of this Side Letter, the parties will jointly recommend to the Pennsylvania Faculty Health and Welfare Fund ("Fund") Trustees that the eligibility rules be adjusted to allow faculty participating in the Program to continue to receive Fund benefits at the full-time level.

B. <u>Eligibility</u>

- 1. Participation in the Program is limited to regular full-time faculty members.
- 2. Eligibility for participation in the Program will be based upon meeting the majority paid annuitant healthcare eligibility under the Collective Bargaining Agreement (age 60 with 10 years of service if hired prior to Fall 1997, age 60 with 15 years of service if hired Fall 1997 to June 2004, age 60 with 20 years of service if hired after July 1, 2004, or 25 years of service regardless of age) as follows:
 - a. Meeting the required years of service at the beginning of the phased retirement period established in the approved Arrangement.
 - b. Meeting the required age by the conclusion of the phased retirement period established in the approved Arrangement.

University human resources will utilize a checklist to verify the eligibility of the participant.

C. Individual Faculty Member Phased Retirement Arrangement

- 1. An individual Arrangement must be initiated by the faculty member, and is subject to review and approval by the respective Dean or other appropriate manager and the university President (or his/her designee). Both the faculty member and the university President (or his/her designee) will execute a formal agreement outlining the specifics of the faculty member's approved Arrangement. Once the Arrangement is fully executed, it is irrevocable.
- 2. The faculty member must submit the proposed Arrangement to his or her Dean or other appropriate manager, with a copy to his or her Department Chair and the University President (or his/her designee), no later than 90 days prior to the proposed start of the Arrangement ,for Arrangements proposed to begin with the Fall 2019 semester. Thereafter, the proposed Arrangement must be submitted no later than 120 days prior to the proposed start of the Arrangement.
- 3. Within 30 days after submission of the proposed Arrangement, the university President (or his/her designee) will notify the faculty member whether the proposed Arrangement is: (a) approved; (b) provisionally approved with modification(s); or (c) disapproved. A notice of provisional approval with modification(s) shall specify the modification(s) required for approval. Following receipt of a provisional approval with modification(s), the faculty

member may agree to the modification(s) or decline to participate in the Program based on the modified terms. A notice of disapproval shall include an explanation of the reason for disapproval. The decision by the President (or his/her designee) to disapprove a proposed Arrangement is only subject to challenge through the grievance procedure where the individual faculty member asserts the decision was discriminatory or arbitrary and capricious.

- 4. The final approved Arrangement must be executed by the faculty member and the University President at least 45 days prior to the start of the semester for Arrangements proposed to begin with the Fall 2019 semester. Thereafter, the final approved Arrangement must be executed at least 60 days prior to the start of the semester in which the Arrangement begins.
- 5. The proposed Arrangement will provide for a phasing timeframe from one to three years, provided, however, that a University President (or his/her designee) may approve a longer timeframe on an exception basis.
- 6. The proposed Arrangement must provide for the faculty member to work at a reduced workload at any increment between 50% and 99% of the full-time workload, except during the final year of phasing, when the proposed Arrangement may provide a reduced workload of between 25% and 99% of the full-time workload. The reduced workload for each year must be identified in the proposed Arrangement.
- 7. Workload for Program participants may be front-loaded in the academic year (e.g. a faculty member with a reduced workload of 50% may teach four undergraduate classes in the fall semester, and no classes in the spring semester), but may not be back-loaded (e.g. a faculty member with a reduced workload of 50% would not be permitted to submit an Arrangement with no classes in the fall semester and four undergraduate classes in the spring semester of that academic year).
- 8. An approved Arrangement may not be extended unless approved by the University President (or his/her designee) on an exception basis, but may be accelerated at the election of the faculty member, with notice given at least 60 days before the start of any semester.

D. <u>Terms of Employment During Participation in the Program</u>

- 1. Faculty members participating in the Program will continue to be considered full-time for purposes of healthcare eligibility (if they pay the employee healthcare premiums applicable to full-time faculty members) and for purposes of health and welfare fund contributions.
- 2. The participating faculty member's base salary (including any applicable lump sums paid to faculty at the top of the scale), and any benefits that are based upon

salary, including life insurance and retirement plan contributions, will be prorated based upon the salary applicable to the reduced phased retirement workload. The employee benefits impact of the reduction in salary will be included in the human resources checklist, identified in item B.2. of this Side Letter.

- 3. Faculty members participating in the Program are generally ineligible for additional workload assignments during the academic year, beyond the workload provided in the approved Arrangement, except as authorized by the University President (or his/her designee) and agreed to by the faculty member.
- 4. Faculty members participating in the Program are expected to perform the duties and responsibilities of their faculty position commensurate with the approved FTE of their Arrangement.
- 5. Department chairs who elect to participate in the Program must relinquish their chair role prior to commencing the phased retirement Arrangement, except as authorized by the University President (or his/her designee) and agreed to by the faculty member.
- 6. Program participants are ineligible for sabbaticals during the phased retirement Arrangement, after the phased retirement Arrangement, and for the calendar year immediately preceding the phased time Arrangement.

E. Impact on other Articles within the Collective Bargaining Agreement

- 1. For Universities that use an FTE calculation to determine department size, a faculty member participating in the Program will be counted based upon the FTE noted in their Arrangement, for the respective academic year, for purposes of workload equivalents and stipends for department chairpersons. Any faculty member(s) hired to back-fill the participant's reduced workload will likewise be counted based upon their assigned workload for this purpose.
- 2. The workload of any temporary faculty member(s) hired to fill the reduced workload of a faculty member participating in an approved Arrangement will not be counted in the numerator of the calculation identified in Article 11, Section F.1. of the collective bargaining agreement. In addition, the workload of any temporary faculty member(s) hired to fill the reduced workload of a faculty member participating in an approved Arrangement, shall not be counted in the department review under Article 11, Section H.1.

After the Arrangement is completed and the participating faculty member has retired, any faculty hired to replace the retired faculty member will be counted in the Article 11, Section F.1. calculation. In addition, after the Arrangement is completed and the participating faculty member has retired, any temporary faculty member hired to replace the retired faculty member will have their workload counted in the department review under Article 11, Section H.1, unless excluded under the provisions of Article 11, Section H.5.

- 3. The checklist included in B.2. will include a review to determine if the faculty member's regular fifth year evaluation cycle noted in Article 12, Section G.1. falls within the requested time period of the Arrangement. If the fifth year review falls within the time period that is approved by the President (or his/her designee), the Dean, or other appropriate manager, will notify the affected faculty member and the department chairperson, that the faculty member is excused from the regular fifth year review.
- 4. Faculty members on approved Arrangements shall accrue sick leave in accordance with Article 17, Section A.1.c. for the duration of their Arrangement.
- 5. Faculty members on an approved Arrangement shall be charged for sick leave usage as a part time faculty member in accordance with the second sentence of Article 17, Section B.2.
- 6. Faculty members on approved Arrangements shall accrue personal leave as a regular part time faculty member in accordance with Article 21, Section F.1. for the duration of their Arrangement.
- 7. Faculty members on approved Arrangements will continue to be considered fulltime for purposes of Article 21, Section H.
- 8. Faculty members on approved Arrangements will continue to be considered regular full time for any purposes of a "Majority" vote or "Majority Secret Ballot Vote" of the regular full-time faculty referenced within the collective bargaining agreement.
- 9. Faculty members on approved Arrangements will continue to be considered regular full-time for purposes of seniority and Article 29.

AGREED:

STATE SYSTEM

Daniel Greenstein, Chancellor

APSCUF

Kenneth M. Mash, President

5